I. INTRODUCTION

This is an inverse condemnation damage action involving two

separate properties in downtown Tacoma owned by appellant TT

Properties, LLC ( " TT Properties "), a family -owned entity consisting of

members of the Turner family. One property is located at 2620 Pacific

Avenue in Tacoma ( sometimes referred to as the " Pacific Avenue

Property "). The other property is at 223 E C Street in Tacoma

sometimes referred to as the "C Street Property "). 

The action was filed after the City of Tacoma, in participation

with Sound Transit, completely eliminated all access to a public road, 

Delin Street, abutting the Pacific Avenue Property; and substantially

impaired a public ally way access to the C Street Property by allowing

Sound Tansit to construct an improvement encroaching on the ally

way. The trial court dismissed the inverse condemnation action on

summary judgment. 

The trial court erred. With regard to the Pacific Avenue Property, 

the trial court failed to recognize that complete elimination of access to

an abutting public road is a per se taking. The trial court instead

incorrectly applied a circuity of travel analysis that should only be

applied when there is either a partial taking of or damage to access to

an abutting road, or when the government action simply regulated
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traffic flow so as to impact nonabutting property owners. With respect

to the C Street property, the trial court improperly invaded the province

of the jury when it determined, as a matter of law, that the impairment

to the ally way was insubstantial. 

This Court should reverse the trial court and remand the matter

for a trial on the merits of these inverse condemnation claims. 

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR AND ISSUES PRESENTED

Appellant TT Properties assigns error to the trial court' s ruling

on summary judgment that TT Properties does not have standing to

assert an inverse condemnation claim because there was no

compensable taking. The trial court' s summary judgment order is at CP

267 -68, which order was subsequently revised solely to set forth the

pleadings relied up by the trial court and comply with RAP 9. 12. ( See

278 -80.) 

The issues presented on this appeal are as follows: 

1. Was it error to hold, as a matter of law, that there is no

compensable taking where appellant TT Properties owns property that

abuts and accessed the public Delin Street and all access to Delin

Street was destroyed? 
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2. Was it error to hold, as a matter of law, that there is no

compensable taking where the degree of damage caused to a public

right of way access is a question of fact for the jury? 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As noted earlier, the property that is the subject of this inverse

condemnation is owned by TT Properties, which is a family -owned

entity consisting of members of the Turner family. Both the Pacific

Avenue Property and the C Street Property have been in the Turner

family for approximately 60 years. (CP 187 -88.) 

A. The Pacific Avenue Property. 

In 1944 grandfather George Turner and his wife Helen

purchased the Pacific Avenue Property, which at that time was part of

an entire city block ( block 7612) at the intersection of Pacific Avenue

and 26th Street. (CP 188.) 

The grandparents improved the south part of the property with

a two story building containing approximately 5, 000 square feet on

each floor. The lower level was utilized as a service garage with five

bays and an office area. The upper level contained five apartment

units. The property was bordered by Pacific Avenue, Delin Street and

S. 27th Street (see vicinity map below). (CP 188.) 
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While 27th Street provides some access for the apartments on

the upper level of the building, the existing structure and the grade and

topography of the site preclude access from 27th Street to the service

garage on the lower level. ( See photographs at CP 127, 124 -25, 130, 

137, 110 -15. See also CP 155 -56.) For the service garage, customers

entered on Pacific Avenue and exited on Delin Street. (CP 188.) 

In 1952 the grandparents sold the north portion of the property

2610 Pacific Avenue) to the City of Tacoma for use in connection with

the construction of Highway 99. ( CP 189.) But this triangle- shaped

portion of property being sold to the City provided the means by which
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the service garage customers exited onto the abutting Delin Street. 

While it also abutted Delin Street, the grade difference and

development on the Pacific Avenue property being retained by the

Turner family hindered access to Delin Street. ( See CP 155 -56; see

also CP 130.) Accordingly, to preserve access via Delin Street, an

easement was reserved over the property sold to the City. ( CP 189, 

195.) Specifically, the deed conveyed the property to the City

conditioned as follows: 

EXCEPTING, easement for existing roadway over
the property described as follows: 

Commencing at the southeast corner of the north
5 feet of lot 2, Block 7612, The Tacoma Land

Company's First Addition to the City of Tacoma, 
Washington Territory, thence on the south line of
said North 5 feet West 62 feet to the true point of

beginning for this description, thence continuing
on said South line West 18.21 feet to the northerly
line of said block, thence on said block line

northeasterly 26.87 feet to a line parallel with and
62 feet West of the East line of said block, thence

on said parallel line south 19.73 feet to the true

point of beginning. (Underlining added.) 

CP 120, 195.) The easement was paved. For over 60 years trucks

entering the Turner property would enter on Pacific Avenue and exit to

Delin Street over the easement on City property. ( CP 189. See also, 

photographs at CP 112 -13.) 
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Below is a drawing that depicts the location of the easement

with respect to the TT Properties' and the City' s adjoining properties

and Delin Street. On the page following this hand drawing is an aerial

photograph of this same area taken in 2005 that depicts the access

from Pacific Avenue and the exit over the easement to Delin Street. 

Pacific Avenue is on the east / right and Delin Street is on the west

left.) 

See drawing of easement per legal description at CP 183, 178, 181.) 
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CP 113.) 

Turner Towing Company occupied the lower floor of the Pacific

Avenue Property from the late 1940's until 1986 when the towing

business was sold. ( CP 189.) The Turner family continued to own the

property and leased the lower floor to various automotive related

businesses, the last of which was Premier Transmission. ( Id.) In

approximately September 2009, Premier Transmission moved out. All

of the various automotive related businesses used the Delin Street exit

on a regular basis. ( Id.) 

In 2009, Sound Transit commenced its D to M Street Track and

Signal Project (the " Project "). (CP 189.) In 2010 TT Properties signed a
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temporary construction easement to Sound Transit which allowed

Project contractors access to a portion of TT Properties' property for

on -site grading work. No mention was made that Delin Street, or TT

Properties' access to Delin Street, would be destroyed. (CP 189 -90.) 

In 2011, as part of the Project, Delin Street as it abutted TT

Properties' property, and TT Properties' easement access to Delin

Street, were destroyed. ( CP 190.) Delin Street's grade was changed

such that it was converted from a traversable street to a right -of -way

slope area. ( CP 154, 250, n. 3.) At the time TT Properties did not know

who physically destroyed Delin Street or its easement. TT Properties

subsequently learned the access was destroyed by contractors hired

by Sound Transit. (CP 190.) However, Sound Transit only so acted after

it entered into a Right -of- Use Agreement with the City allowing Sound

Transit to destroy Delin Street and TT Properties' access to Delin

Street. ( CP 189, 197 -248.) The Right of Use Agreement provided that

it is in the best interests of the public that the City authorize such use

of the public rights of way." (CP 197.) 

The destruction of Delin Street and TT Properties' access to

Delin Street has had a significant negative impact on the value of the

Pacific Avenue Property. ( CP 184 -85.) In 2013, TT Properties sold the

property at a much reduced price retaining claims against Sound
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Transit and the City for the destruction of Plaintiffs access to Delin

Street. (CP 190.) 

B. The C Street Property. 

The C Street property has also been in the Turner family for

approximately 60 years. (CP 190.) A drawing of the Property is set

forth below: 

ALLEY

6 7 10 11 12

w

E 26TH STREET . • 

4O

m
C) 

CP 191.) 

A City owned alley way abuts the North side of Plaintiff's C

Street property. The alley way serves as an entrance to Plaintiff's

property on the north. (CP 191.) 
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In 2012, under the Right of Use Agreement, the City allowed

Sound Transit to construct what the City calls a utility bungalow on a

portion of the alley way. (CP 191.) Although the bungalow only intrudes

a little over one foot into the alley way, it rests for the most part on

other City owned and unoccupied property. (Id.) 

For over 60 years trucks entering the C Street property would

swing wide over the area now occupied by the utility bungalow to enter

Plaintiff's property. (CP 191.) The presence of the bungalow makes it

difficult to impossible for trucks to enter over C Street Property. ( Id.) 

The inability for long haul vehicles to enter /exit over C Street property

has had a significant negative impact on the value of TT Properties' C

Street property. (CP 192, 185.) 

C. The City's Summary Judgment Motion. 

TT Properties filed suit against the City of Tacoma in November

2013, asserting that the City' s action through the Right of Use

Agreement served to destroy TT Properties' Delin Street access to the

Pacific Avenue Property and substantially impair its ally access to the C

Street Property without compensation as required by Washington' s
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Constitution. 1 In August 2014, the City moved to dismiss TT Properties' 

inverse condemnation claim. (CP 1 -21.) 

The City asserted two grounds for dismissal. First, the City

claimed, as a matter of law, that it cannot be held liable because it

only approved Sound Transit' s plans and permits and, thus, the City

was not the government entity that took TT Properties' access rights - 

the City claimed it did not cause the damage to TT Properties private

property rights. Second, the City claimed it cannot be held liable

because there was no compensable taking because, accordingly to the

City, TT Properties lost nothing of value. (CP 2.) 

The trial court correctly rejected the first argument pursuant to

Phillips v. King County, 136 Wn. 2d 946, 968 P. 2d 871, 876 ( 1998).2

Contrary to its assertion on summary judgment ( CP 2 -4), the City of

Tacoma did more than simply approve Sound Transit' s plans. The City

1 TT Properties' Complaint was not included in the original designation of Clerk' s
Papers, but has been added by a supplemental designation filed simultaneously with
this opening brief. It is anticipated that the Complaint will be at CP 284. 

2 The proposed Order Granting City of Tacoma' s Motion for Summary Judgment
provided a form for the trial court to select among options as for the basis for
granting the motion. The proposed Order provided the following: 

It is hereby ORDERED, ADJUDGED and DECREED that the City of
Tacoma' s motion is granted on the following basis /bases: 

the Court finds that, based upon applicable case law, there is no

compensable taking and therefore plaintiff has not standing against
the City of Tacoma; and /or

the Court finds that, based upon the case law, the City of Tacoma
was not the causal actor in any event alleged by plaintiff to
constitute a taking. 

CP 268.) Only the first box was checked as the basis for the trial court' s ruling. (id.) 
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entered into an extensive Right of Use Agreement with Sound Transit

allowing Sound Transit to permanently use public rights -of -way

including Delin Street and C Street) for a transportation project. ( CP

197.) The City acted as a direct participant by allowing its land to be

used by Sound Transit. This was not a mere regulatory act by the City. It

was " a proprietary action respecting a government' s management of

its public land." The City found that " it is in the best interests of the

public that the City authorize such use." ( CP 197.) The City' s action and

finding " satisfied the public use element of an inverse condemnation

action." See Phillips supra, 136 Wn. 2d at 957.3

3 In Phillips a property owner abutting a county right of way used as a drainage basin
for stormwater sought damages from the County and a subdivision developer for
flooding of his property. The court held that: 

The County was not liable for its approval of the private
land development. 

The County was not liable for its agreement to accept
ownership of the drainage system for maintenance
purposes. 

The County was liable for allowing a part of a private
drainage system to be constructed on public land. 

The Phillips Court explained its ruling: 

Drainage System Constructed on Public Land

It is undisputed that King County provided the land on which the
spreaders were placed. Whether the County owned the property in
fee or whether it allowed Lozier to build the drainage system in the

county' s right -of -way is irrelevant. The record shows that the County
allowed Lozier to build drain pipes across its 236th Avenue N. E. 

right -of -way and to install the spreader system on the far east side
of the right -of -way, within several feet of the Phillips' property. 

The County acted as a direct participant in allowing its land, or land
over which it had control, to be used by the developer. Rather than
acting only to approve plans, the County here used its own property
for the specific placement of drainage devices allegedly intended to
drain water onto the Phillips' property. It is alleged that the County
voluntarily allowed its property to be used as a conduit for storm
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The trial court accepted, however, the City' s second asserted

basis for summary judgment and held, as a matter of law, that TT

Properties does not have standing to assert an inverse condemnation

claim because there was no compensable taking. (CP 268.) It is this

ruling that is challenged on appeal. 

Notably, with respect to the Delin Street access, the City' s claim

that there was no compensable loss of access was founded upon the

following assertion: 

Plaintiff [ TT Properties] never had direct access to

its 2620 Property off of Delin Street without having
to cross the City owned property at 2610 except as
the same can be had from the 27th Street at the

back of Plaintiff' s property. Any lawful access ( i. e. 
not by traversing across City owned property) to the
2620 Property off of Delin Street was prevented by
a difference in grade and a retaining wall that has
been present at the 2620 Property since at least

water from private development. The record indicates that the

water was collected form the development into the retention pond

and was piped by culvert under or across the county right -of -way so
that instead of flooding county property, it poured out of the
spreaders onto the Phillips' property. This alleged conduct, of

allowing the use of public land to convey the subdivision' s storm
water to the edge of, and then upon, the Phillips' property, satisfied
the public use element of an inverse condemnation cause of action. 

King County' s decision that the 236th Avenue NE right -of -way should
be used for the construction of drainage fixtures was a proprietary
action respecting a government' s management of its public land. 
By channeling the water to the edge of its right -of -way, the County
acted to protect its interest in public land. As in the Wilber case, the

County' s action here was not simply approval and permitting - it

was actual involvement in the drainage project. If it is proven at trial

that the County participated in creation of the problem, it may
participate in the solution. 

136 Wn. 2d at 967. 
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2001 before the D to M Project began. Prior to the

closure of Delin Street, Plaintiff did, however, use

the adjacent City property for both parking and
access to the 2620 Property. This use of the City' s
property was not permissive, nor was it otherwise
lawful. Plaintiff has never had direct access to the

2620 Property off of Delin Street. 

CP 6. See also CP 11 ( "Plaintiff had no direct access to the 2620

Property from Delin Street because of a pre- existing difference in grade

and retaining wall barring access. The only access Plaintiff lost as a

result of Sound Transit' s D to M Project work as an access point only

viable by crossing the property of another. ").) 

Of course, this assertion was incorrect.4 TT Properties did, in

fact, have an express easement that authorized it to cross the City' s

property and access to the abutting Delin Street. However, through the

Right of Use Agreement the City acted to completely destroy and

eliminate that access, and as result, all access to Delin Street. 

In its reply, after TT Properties completed its briefing and

submitted its declarations, the City shifted its emphasis away from its

4 While the City attached a copy of the Deed to its motion ( see CP 120), it made no
mention of the easement in its motion. Rather, all communications to the trial court

were that TT Properties and its customers used the City' s process to access Delin
Street without permission or authorization from the City (see CP 6, 11 -12). ( See also

Declaration of Ronda Cornforth at CP 153 -54 ( " The City never affirmatively
authorized such access or use.) 

In its reply, the City stated: " No attempt was made to conceal this, but the City found
the easement to be irrelevant." (CP 250, n. 3.) TT Properties does not accuse the City
of concealment, though the City' s claims in its opening motion lead one to believe the
City was unaware that the deed contained an access easement over the existing
road. 
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claim that TT Properties had no, and therefore lost no right of access to

Delin Street. The City instead focused attention to the fact that TT

Properties retained access to its Pacific Avenue Property via Pacific

Avenue and 27th Street. It appears that the trial court concluded that

this remaining access, as a matter of law, fully negated TT Properties

inverse condemnation claim based upon the complete Toss of access

to Delin Street. 

Such a conclusion, however, is contrary to the law. As an

abutting property owner, TT Properties Toss of access to Delin Street is

a per se compensabie Toss, even if it has some access from wholly

different public streets. At the very least, the trial court invaded the

province of the jury when it concluded, as a matter of law, that the

damage to the Delin Street access to the Pacific Property and the ally

way access to the C Street Property was not a substantial impairment. 

IV. ARGUMENT

Washington's Constitution provides that " no private property

shall be taken or damaged for public or private use without just

compensation having been first made ... which compensation shall be

ascertained by a jury." Wash. Const. Art. I § 16. " Property in a thing

consists not merely of its ownership and possession, but in the

unrestricted right of [ its] use, enjoyment and disposal. Anything that
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destroys any of these elements of property, to that extent, destroys the

property itself" and constitutes a compensable taking or damaging of

property." Wandermere Corp. v. State, 79 Wn. 2d 688, 694 -95, 488

P. 2d 1088 ( 1971). A compensable taking has occurred when

government conduct interferes with the use and enjoyment of private

property, with subsequent decline in market value. Martin v. Port of

Seattle, 64 Wn. 2d 309, 320, 391 P. 2d 540 (1964), cert. denied, 379

U. S. 989 (1965). 

The term " inverse condemnation" is used to describe an action

alleging a governmental " taking" or " damaging" that is brought to

recover the value of property which has been appropriated in fact, but

with no formal exercise of the power of eminent domain. Phillips v. 

King County, supra, 136 Wn. 2d at 957. The elements required to

establish inverse condemnation are: ( 1) a taking or damaging; ( 2) of

private property; (3) for public use; ( 4) without just compensation being

paid; ( 5) by a governmental entity that has not instituted formal

proceedings. Id. at 959. 

The question presented on this appeal is whether TT Properties

presented an inverse condemnation claim that satisfies the first

element - that its private property right was taken or damaged. 
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A. Because TT Property Was An Abutting Property Owner, The
Complete Destruction Of TT Properties' Delin.Street Access Was

A Per Se Taking. The Trial Court Erred When It Dismissed TT
Properties' Inverse Condemnation Claim. 

1. Owners of property abutting a public street have an
absolute private property right to ingress and egress to
the abutting public street. 

Except for highways established as limited access highways,5

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