NO. 46803-4-II

COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION TWO STATE OF WASHINGTON

TT PROPERTIES, LLC,

Appellant,

VS.

THE CITY OF TACOMA, a Washington municipal corporation,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT CITY OF TACOMA'S APPEAL BRIEF

Jeff H. Capell, WSBA No. 25207 Deputy City Attorney City of Tacoma 747 Market Street, Room 1120 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 591-5638

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

IV. **ARGUMENT**

TTP's argument rests on the contention that an abutting property owner has a per se right to compensation any time its access is interfered with regardless of whether "[a]ccess is preserved over other streets or ways."19 TTP would have this Court consider the access point through the easement encumbering the 2610 Property in isolation and ignore the access to the 2620 Property from Pacific Avenue and from 27th Street. Takings analysis is not so limited.

TTP's analysis is apparently identical at the 223 Property, arguing that because the 223 Property abuts the City alleyway, any interference is a per se compensable taking. This approach is incorrect and has been since the Freeman case in 1912 as will be clarified below.

then contends that summary judgment was incorrectly granted because the determination of substantiality of impairment is a question of fact. This too is not necessarily the case as will be discussed directly below.

The Standard of Review on a Grant of Summary Judgment and the Appropriateness Thereof on the Facts in this Matter.

1. Standard of Review. When reviewing a trial court's

 ¹⁸ RP pg. 18 ("They still have access...on two points.").
 19 Freeman v. City of Centralia, 67 Wash. 142, 145, 120 P. 886 (1912).

grant of a motion for summary judgment, the Court of Appeals engages in the same level of inquiry as that required of the trial court.²⁰ "A motion for summary judgment is proper where no genuine issue of material fact exists, or, in construing the evidence in favor of the nonmoving party, reasonable minds could reach but one result."²¹

2. Summary Judgment was Appropriate Here under Controlling Case Law. The present case meets both criteria for granting summary judgment, and the Superior Court was correct in doing so. The material facts at issue here are as follows:

- 1. During the course of Sound Transit's D to M Project, Sound Transit closed the section of Delin Street located to the North of the 2620 Property to vehicle traffic, but left direct access to the 2620 Property from 27th Street untouched with access from Pacific Avenue also remaining through a widened and improved curb cut;
- 2. The City reviewed and approved Sound Transit's D to M Project, including the actions complained of here; the City did not, however, perform any of the work, nor did it design the Project, or have any decision making authority over the Project other than as the local jurisdiction with regulatory authority; and
- 3. Toward the close of the D to M Project, Sound transit located a utility bungalow in the vicinity of 223 East C Street, primarily in railroad right-of-way, but encroaching into a City of Tacoma unimproved alley right-of-way a distance of approximately one (1) foot²²; the City entered into a permit with Sound Transit dated September 14, 2010 that allowed the bungalow to be placed in the railroad right-of-way; the

²⁰ Ford v. Red Lion Inns, 67 Wn. App. 766, 769, 840 P.2d 198 (1992).

²¹ <u>Id.</u>, citing <u>Sea-Pac Co. v. United Food & Comm'l Workers Local Union</u> 44, 103 Wn.2d 800, 802, 699 P.2d 217 (1985).

²² See CP 144-146, <u>Declaration Leonard J. Webster</u>, at pg. 2 and the <u>Exhibit</u> A survey drawing attached to the Declaration.

City had no part in the decision making that led to the placement of the bungalow, nor does the City own, operate, or maintain it.

There is no dispute on these facts and they are the only facts material to the summary judgment on review in this appeal. The disagreement over whether the impairment of access was substantial is a difference of how the facts align with the law; it is not a disagreement in any actual material fact.

TTP cites <u>Keiffer v. King County</u>²³ for its argument that summary judgment was improper because determining substantial impairment is an issue of fact. TTP is correct that, according to the <u>Keiffer Court</u>, impairment is an issue of fact, but it can still be determined on summary judgment if, as stated above, in construing the evidence in favor of the nonmoving party, reasonable minds could reach but one result."²⁴ The State Supreme Court has also stated that:

The determination of whether a given governmental interference with private property rights constitutes a "taking" or a "damaging" is a complex determination depending upon the unique facts of each given case. This determination is a judicial question. [Emphasis in the original.]²⁵

Summary judgment has been granted and upheld in similar circumstances in access takings cases for the same reasons the City advances here.²⁶ Determining whether

²³ 89 Wn.2d 369, 372, 572 P.2d 408 (1977).

²⁴ O.S.T. v. Regence BlueShield, 181 Wn.2d 692, 706, 335 P.3d 416 (2014)(there is no genuine issue preventing summary judgment—reasonable minds could not differ when viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the [non-moving party]).

²⁵ Wandermere Corp. v. State, 79 Wn.2d 688, 695, 488 P.2d 1088 (1971).

²⁶ See e.g. <u>Hoskins v. Kirkland</u>, 7 Wn. App. 957, 503 P.2d 1117

reasonable minds could disagree happens against the backdrop of controlling case law. The City's position here has always been that controlling case law is clear that even when access is impaired at one point, "[n]o compensation can be exacted where access is preserved over other streets or ways."²⁷

It is undisputed that the 2620 Property still has access from Pacific Avenue and from 27th Street, and the 223 Property still has access over the alleyway with only one foot of actual impairment²⁸ for a very short distance from Sound Transit's utility bungalow.²⁹ As such the issue of compensable impairment was proper for the Superior Court to decide on summary judgment. TTP has attempted to raise questions of fact in its submitted Declarations, but the Declarations contain nothing more than unsupported assertions.³⁰

B. There is no Compensable Taking in this Matter Because Reasonable Access is Preserved at Both Properties.

TTP's argument is that any time access to an abutting

⁽¹⁹⁷²⁾⁽summary judgment dismissal of access takings claim upheld where access was preserved over other streets); Mackie v. Seattle, 19 Wn. App. 464, 576 P.2d 414 (1978); Galvis v. Dep't of Transp., 140 Wn. App. 693, 704-708, 167 P.3d 584 (2007) rev. den. 163 Wn.2d 1041, 187 P.3d 269 (2008)("Keiffer does not require that a jury determine whether the degree of impairment is compensable"); and London v. Seattle, 93 Wn.2d 657, 611 P.2d 781 (1980).

²⁷ Freeman, 67 Wash. at 145.

²⁸ The City calls it "actual impairment" because TTP had no right to have trucks "[s]wing wide" over railroad right-of-way (CP pg. 169), as the City will explain further below.

²⁹ See survey map at CP pg. 146.

³⁰ <u>Jackass Mt. Ranch, Inc. v. S. Columbia Basin Irrigation Dist.</u>, 175 Wn. App. 374, 305 P.3d 1108 (2013)

⁽The nonmoving party may not rely on speculation or argumentative assertions to defeat summary judgment.).

property is impaired, such impairment constitutes a *per se* compensable taking. This contention does not square with controlling case law and the facts of this case for a number of reasons. The first reason, at the 2620 Property, is that TTP is not, in fact, an abutting property owner to Delin Street at the point where access was lost.

1. The 2620 Property does not "Abut" Delin Street at the Location Access was Lost. Washington courts have recognized that "[t]he right of access of an abutting property owner to a public street is an enforceable property right." "Property abuts on a public street when there is no intervening land between it and the street. "When property abuts, the lot line and street line are in common." Under this definition, the 2620 Property abuts Pacific Avenue and 27th Street. It abuts Delin Street briefly, but not at the point where it had any access to Delin Street when Sound Transit repurposed Delin Street from a street to slope for S. Tacoma Way. At the only location where the 2620 Property actually abuts Delin Street, access is not possible due to a retaining wall that has been in place since at least 2001. TTP's access to Delin Street was not as an abutting property owner, but as an easement holder over the City's 2610

³¹ <u>Davidson v. Kitsap County</u>, 86 Wn. App. 673, 684, 937 P.2d 1309 (1997) *citing Keiffer*, 89 Wn.2d at 372.

Davidson, 86 Wn. App. at 684, citing London, 93 Wn.2d at 661.
 Davidson, 86 Wn. App. at 684, citing keil v. City of Seattle, 149 Wash.

^{197, 201, 270} P. 431 (1928), cert. denied, 279 U.S. 825, 73 L. Ed. 978, 49 S. Ct. 482 (1929). See also 10A EUGENE MCQUILLIN, MUNICIPAL CORPORATIONS § 30.55 (3d ed. rev. 1990).

³⁴ CP pgs. 112-113, 122-123, 130 and 133.

Property.³⁵ That notwithstanding, the ultimate issue is not whether TTP is an abutting property owner, but whether TTP's access was substantially impaired.³⁶

2. Under Applicable Case Law, TTP Overburdened its Access Rights to Delin. There is no question that TTP's access to Delin Street from the 2620 Property only existed due to a retained easement for access. TTP overburdened the easement for years by using the entirety of the 2610 Property for access and by parking both in the easement area and over the remainder of the 2610 Property.³⁷ "The owner of an easement trespasses if he or she misuses, overburdens, or deviates from an existing easement." TTP overburdened, misused and deviated from the access easement for years. Damages for such a misuse and the trespass that results can include the cost of restoration and the loss of use. 40

The City never authorized this expanded use, but neither did it seek damages against TTP for its misuse of the access easement. The City did, however, warn TTP of its misuse to the point that the City ultimately posted the 2610 Property for "no

³⁵ See e.g. <u>Taft v. Washington Mut. Sav. Bank</u>, 127 Wash. 503, 509, 221 P. 604 (1923), which states: "We conclude that the correct rule is that only those directly abutting on the portion of the street or alley vacated, or alleged to be obstructed, or those whose rights of access are substantially affected, have such a special interest as to enable them to maintain an action.

³⁶ <u>Keiffer</u>, 89 Wn.2d at 409-410.

 $[\]overline{\text{CP pgs.}}$ 111-115 and 153.

³⁸ Olympic Pipe Line Co. v. Thoeny, 124 Wn. App. 381, 393-394, 101 P.3d 430 (2004) internal cites omitted.

³⁹ CP pgs. 111-115 and 153.

⁴⁰ Thoeny, 124 Wn. App. at 393-394.

parking" in order to put an end to the trespassing.⁴¹

At the outset of this matter, it seemed that TTP was perhaps more upset about the loss of parking along Delin Street as well as the easement area. That said, because "[t]he elimination of on-street parking does not give rise to a takings claim," TTP has never mentioned the loss of parking specifically in its claim for damages. The City mentions this here only because it seems entirely inequitable to hold the City responsible for compensation for the loss of an access easement that TTP overburdened and misused for years. The foregoing notwithstanding, the ultimate issue remains whether TTP's access was substantially impaired.

3. Even if One is an Abutting Property Owner, There is no Per Se Taking Rule for Access Impairments Unless the Subject Property is Landlocked. TTP's error in applying the relevant case law lies in assuming that if any access point is eliminated for an abutting street, that access point is considered in complete isolation from any other access available to the subject property. That approach does not square with controlling case law. In all discussion in Washington cases regarding the issue of access takings and abutter's rights, there is an underlying assumption that stems from traditional platting patterns. That is, there is an assumption of square or rectangular lay-outs along straight streets in which properties face one street and obtain

⁴¹ CP pg. 153.

⁴² Galvis v. Dep't of Transp., 140 Wn. App. at 706-707.

their access to the public rights-of-way through that facing access alone. In such an alignment, a taking of access would leave the subject property landlocked (i.e. without any reasonable access). In such a scenario, the property would no longer have reasonable access and a compensable taking would, in almost all circumstances, have occurred. That is not the case here, however. The assumption that an abutting property owner loses all viable access when a street is vacated is not true here.⁴³ Where this assumption is not true, there is no reason to give higher scrutiny to an abutter's ability to question a taking.

The State Supreme Court's "[g]eneral rule...is that only abutting property owners, or those whose reasonable means of access has been obstructed, can question the [street] vacation by the proper authorities." This rule holds true today, but this Court should note that the right derived from the rule is only to question the vacation, it is not a right to automatic compensation, even if the complaining property owner is an abutter.

As cited above, the City recognizes that in Washington law an abutting property owner has an enforceable right to access public streets.⁴⁵ However, that right is neither absolute nor is it unlimited. It is a right tempered by reasonableness even if it does

⁴³ The City would point out that Delin Street was not actually vacated here, Sound Transit repurposed it to right-of-way slope to accommodate its design needs at this location. Such a repurposing is allowable under applicable law. See Young v. Nichols, 152 Wash. 306, 278 P. 159 (1929)(use of a street may be changed from its use as a highway to another public purpose, when it is determined that the change will better serve the public good).

⁴⁴ Olsen v. Jacobs, 193 Wash. 506, 510, 76 P.2d 607 (1938).

⁴⁵ Davidson, 86 Wn. App. at 684.

require a higher level of scrutiny. There is a very long line of cases, both before and after <u>Keiffer</u>, that clearly stand for this proposition. The <u>Keiffer</u> court may have said it best, but it certainly was not the first.

One of the first was the <u>Freeman</u> case cited above. The facts, both substantive and procedural, are exceptionally similar to those presented here. In <u>Freeman</u>, a cadre of appellants appealed "[a]n order sustaining a demurrer to a complaint" challenging the vacation of a city street which was to be turn[ed]...over to the railroad companies...to be used for railroad purposes. The State Supreme Court surveyed other jurisdictions and aligned itself with "[t]he great majority of American courts" in holding that a property owner has to demonstrate a special or peculiar damage, "[d]ifferent in kind rather than in degree from that suffered by the general public" before compensation is due. 48

As the City pointed out in oral argument before the Superior Court,⁴⁹ "The existence of the special and peculiar damage is,...more readily recognized when the property abuts upon the particular part of the street that is vacated,"⁵⁰ but that is

⁴⁶ Freeman v. Centralia, 67 Wash. 142, 120 P. 886 (1912).

⁴⁷ <u>Id.</u>, at 142. It should be noted that the Court found nothing wrong with the purpose behind this vacation stating that the intended purposes of providing railroad transportation to the public were a valid reason to vacate. <u>Id.</u>, at 146-148. The <u>Freeman</u> plaintiffs challenged the vacation as unlawful because it was without any public benefit. The Court disagreed stating that private interests are often necessarily intertwined with public interests and do not defeat the authority to vacate. <u>Id.</u>, at 147.

⁴⁸ <u>Id</u>., at 143-144.

⁴⁹ RP pg. 15, lns. 8-23.

⁵⁰ Freeman, 67 Wash. at 143-144.

not the end of the compensability inquiry. The <u>Freeman</u> Court went on to hold all of the following:

- (a) Where a party owns a lot which abuts on that portion of the street vacated so that access to the lot is shut off, it is clear that the lot owner is directly injured, and may properly challenge the action;⁵¹
- (b) Where, however, the effect of closing the street or highway is to close the only passageway a property owner has from his property to the main public ways, such an owner may properly challenge the action by a suit in court, even though he be not an abutting property owner;⁵² and
- (c) [t]he rule...is, that a recovery may be had if the vacation interferes with the *access* to the abutter's property in such manner that he is specially and peculiarly damaged. The injury must be physical in its character. But the rule is equally well settled that no compensation can be exacted where access is preserved over other streets or ways. In other words, an added inconvenience is not a damage or taking within the meaning of these terms as they are used in our state constitution.⁵³

Neither of TTP's properties has been shut off from access to public streets under <u>Freeman</u>. Whether they abut or not, "[a]ccess is preserved [to both properties] over other streets or ways," and TTP's only harm is what the <u>Freeman</u> Court deemed "[a]n added inconvenience [that] is not a damage or taking within the meaning of these terms as they are used in our state constitution."⁵⁴

⁵⁴ Id.

⁵¹ <u>Id.</u>, at 144, *citing* <u>Heller v. Atchison etc. R. Co.</u>, 28 Kan. 625, 628. Access to TTP's properties has not been shut off.

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